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This matter comes before me for final Agency Order.

The issue before me is whether services performed for the Petitioner by the Joined Party and other individuals as drug program agents constitute insured employment pursuant to Sections 443.036(19), 443.036(21); 443.1216, Florida Statutes, and if so, the effective date of the liability.

The Joined Party Lloyd Nilsen filed an unemployment compensation claim effective May 13, 2007.  After a determination was issued showing that the Joined Party Lloyd Nilsen did not earn sufficient wages to qualify for benefits, he requested reconsideration of the determination. The Department of Revenue conducted an investigation to determine whether services performed for the Petitioner constituted insured employment. Upon completing the investigation, the Department of Revenue determined that that the Joined Party Lloyd Nilsen and others who worked under the same terms and conditions were the Petitioner’s employees. The Petitioner was required to pay unemployment compensation taxes on wages paid for those services. The Petitioner filed a timely protest of the determination.  Joined Party Lloyd Nilsen, the claimant who first requested the investigation, and Joined Parties William Logay, Gary Crep, and Robert Starratt, other claimants who worked for the Petitioner as drug program agents, were joined as parties because they had a direct interest in the outcome of the case.  That is, if the determination is reversed, the Joined Parties will be ineligible for unemployment benefits or eligible for a lesser amount of benefits and must repay some or all benefits received. 

All parties participated in a telephone hearing on July 8, 2008. The Petitioner was represented by its attorneys. The Petitioner's Director of Player Benefits appeared and testified as a witness. The Respondent was represented by a Department of Revenue Senior Tax Specialist. A Tax Auditor I appeared and testified as a witness. The Joined Parties were represented by an attorney. Joined Parties Lloyd Nilsen, Robert Starratt, Gary Crep, and William Logay appeared and testified. The Special Deputy issued a recommended order on August 28, 2008.  

The Special Deputy’s Findings of Fact recite as follows:

1. Prior to 1990 the team owners of the National Football League and the players entered into an agreement which allowed the National Football League to conduct drug tests on the players and on the game officials.  The urine samples for the drug tests were collected by National Football League security personnel and were transported to testing laboratories.  

2. The Petitioner, the NFL Management Council, is the collective bargaining arm of the National Football League team owners.  In approximately 1992 the National Football League transferred the responsibility for collecting and transporting the drug test samples to the Petitioner.  Some of the security personnel who had previously collected and transported the drug test samples for the National Football League were transferred to the Petitioner.   The Petitioner also interviewed and hired other applicants for the position of Drug Program Agent.  The former Director of Security of the National Football League was hired to oversee the Drug Program Agents. There were no written agreements or contracts between the Petitioner and the Drug Program Agents.

3. The Petitioner considered the main qualification for a Drug Program Agent to be integrity.  The Drug Program Agents were not required to have prior experience with a drug testing program or any special knowledge concerning drug testing procedures.  However, many of the Drug Program Agents had a background in law enforcement and were familiar with chain of custody procedures.

4. The Petitioner was responsible for collecting and transporting the drug test samples from 1992 until May 2007 when the National Football League team owners contracted with a third party service provider to collect and transport the test samples.  In May 2007 the Petitioner terminated all of the Drug Program Agents.

5. The collective bargaining agreement between the team owners and the players provides for two types of drug testing, anabolic steroid testing and substance of abuse testing.  Through consultation with independent physicians the Petitioner developed a protocol for each type of drug test.  The protocols contained the steps that must be followed in collecting and transporting drug test samples.  In addition, the Petitioner developed a guidebook for the Drug Program Agents.  The guidebook was a loose-leaf binder approximately two to three inches thick.  The guidebook was not the actual policy but contained the instructions and procedures for performing the duties assigned to the Drug Program Agents.  The Drug Program Agents were required to follow each and every guideline.  The guidelines had to be followed exactly without any deviation.  The Petitioner notified the Drug Program Agents that failure to strictly follow the guidelines was grounds for disciplinary action, including dismissal.   

6. Generally, the Petitioner assigned two Drug Program Agents to each NFL team.  The Petitioner designated one Drug Program Agent to be the primary agent and designated the other as the alternate agent.  The Petitioner usually designated newly hired Drug Program Agents as alternate Drug Program Agents.  Generally, when a primary Drug Program Agent left the position or was terminated by the Petitioner, the Petitioner assigned the alternate agent to be the primary agent.  On a few occasions the Petitioner made a decision to change the primary agent assigned to a team to the alternate agent position and elevate the alternate agent to the primary agent position.

7. The Primary Drug Agent had the right to recommend someone for the Petitioner to hire as a Drug Program Agent.  However, the Drug Program Agents were not permitted to hire other agents.  Only the Petitioner had the authority to interview the applicants and to hire Drug Program Agents.  

8. Whenever the Petitioner hired a new Drug Program Agent, the Petitioner assigned an experienced Drug Program Agent to train the new agent.  Generally, the new agents received a week or more of one-on-one training and several weeks of on-the-job training.  The Petitioner paid the Drug Programs Agents to train the new agents and also paid the new agents while they were being trained.

9. The Petitioner provided each Drug Program Agent with an identification card bearing a photograph of the Drug Program Agent and identifying the agent as an agent of the National Football League.  The Petitioner also provided some of the Drug Program Agents with business cards.  The business cards bore the logo of the NFL and the title of National Football League Drug Program Agent.  The Petitioner provided the Drug Program Agents with shirts and caps bearing the logo or name of the National Football League.  The Drug Program Agents were required to wear the shirts and caps while conducting drug tests. 

10. The Petitioner determined which players or officials were to be tested, when the tests were to be performed, and the type of test to be administered.  The testing assignments were provided to the Primary Drug Program Agent.  It was the responsibility of the primary agent to coordinate the collections by providing a portion of the assignments to the alternate agent.  The Petitioner determined that if two Drug Program Agents were assigned to a team, neither Drug Program Agent should perform less than 30% of the tests.  If a team was assigned two or more Drug Program Agents, no player could be tested exclusively by one Drug Program Agent.

11. The Drug Program Agents were required to have their own transportation.  However, the Petitioner reimbursed the Drug Program Agents for the mileage to and from the testing sites.  The Petitioner provided all of the testing materials and supplies.  The Petitioner reimbursed the Drug Program Agents for all expenses in connection with the work.

12. The Drug Program Agents were required to personally perform the work assigned by the Petitioner.  A Drug Program Agent was not allowed to be in another city or training facility to test players without the Petitioner's prior approval.

13. The Drug Program Agents were free to have outside employment or self employment.  They were free to perform similar work for other companies or sport leagues.  However, the Drug Program Agents were prohibited from having any outside association with the gaming or gambling industry or with any NFL team or player.  For instance, if a Drug Program Agent also worked as a Real Estate Broker, the Drug Program Agent was not permitted to sell real estate to a player or to team personnel.

14. Among other things the Drug Program Agents were not allowed to request specific information about a player from team personnel, were not allowed to attend any social event involving players or team personnel, and were not permitted to accept any gifts from players or team personnel.  The Drug Program Agents were not allowed to visit team dining rooms if players or team personnel were present.  The Drug Program Agents were prohibited from inviting players or team personnel to their homes, regardless of the circumstances.  They could not go to a player's home for any reason other than to collect a specimen.  The Drug Program Agents were not allowed to engage in conversation about the drug program with any individual and were required to immediately report all bribes, attempted bribes, or overtures.

15. The Drug Program Agents were paid an hourly fee, the amount of which was unilaterally determined by the Petitioner.  Each Drug Program Agent was paid the same hourly rate regardless of whether the agent was a primary agent or an alternate agent.  Each Drug Program Agent notified the Petitioner concerning the number of hours worked during a pay period.  The Petitioner's Director of Player Benefits verified the amount of pay due by multiplying the number of hours worked by the hourly rate of pay.  No taxes were withheld from the pay.  None of the Drug Program Agents were entitled to any fringe benefits such as paid vacations or sick pay.  At the end of each year the Petitioner reported the earnings of some, but not all, of the Drug Program Agents on Form 1099-MISC as nonemployee compensation.

16. Each year the Petitioner held two Drug Program Agent meetings for the purpose of providing training to the Drug Program Agents, reviewing the policies, discussing issues, and answering any questions the Drug Program Agents might have about the procedures.  The Director of Player Benefits and other NFL Management Council employees also attended the meetings.  The meetings were the only personal contact which the Director of Player Benefits had with the Drug Program Agents.  The primary Drug Program Agents were required to attend both meetings each year.  The alternate Drug Program Agents were only required to attend one meeting each year.  The Petitioner determined when and where the meetings were held.  The Petitioner booked the airline flights and provided the airline tickets to the Drug Program Agents.  The Petitioner also booked the hotel reservations.  The Petitioner paid for the airline tickets and the hotel.  The Drug Program Agents submitted expense accounts and were reimbursed for all other expenses.  The Drug Program Agents were paid for travel time and attendance at the meetings by the Petitioner at the established hourly rate of pay.

17. The Petitioner distributed a new guidebook to the Drug Program Agents at the June 2005 Drug Program Agent meeting.  The Petitioner expressed the belief that the new guidebook would be invaluable in helping the Drug Program Agents carry out their assigned responsibilities as directed by the NFL Management Council.  The Drug Program Agents were informed that it was more important than ever for the Drug Program Agents to follow the Petitioner's procedures in an exacting manner.

18. Joined Party Lloyd Nilsen has experience in law enforcement and was hired as an alternate Drug Program Agent in 1993.  In 2000 the Petitioner promoted him to the position of primary Drug Program Agent.  He continued working as a Drug Program Agent until May 2007 when the Petitioner terminated the Drug Program Agents.  From 1993 until May 2007 Lloyd Nilsen did not engage in any outside employment or self employment.

19. Joined Party Robert Starratt was hired as a Drug Program Agent in October 2005 and he worked until he was terminated by the Petitioner in May 2007.  At the time of hire he was not told that he would be an independent contractor.  He always believed that he was an employee even though taxes were not withheld from the pay.  He has a background in law enforcement.  While working as a Drug Program Agent he was also a self employed private investigator, however, he only collected drug test samples for the Petitioner.  He received Form 1099 from the Petitioner for each year that he worked as a Drug Program Agent.

20. Joined Party Gary Crep was hired by the Petitioner in October 2000.  He worked until approximately April 2007 when he was terminated by the Petitioner.  He was designated by the Petitioner as an alternate Drug Program Agent.  He has a background in law enforcement and he also worked as a self employed private investigator while he was a Drug Program Agent.  However, he only collected drug test samples for the Petitioner.  At the time of hire he was not informed that he was an independent contractor.  He always believed that he was the Petitioner's employee even though taxes were not withheld.  His earnings were reported by the Petitioner on Form 1099.  While working as a Drug Program Agent he was appointed to the Drug Program Agent Advisory Committee.  The Drug Program Agents were divided into teams.  Each member of the Advisory Committee was responsible for providing information to the Drug Program Agents in the member's assigned team.  

21. Joined Party William Logay was hired to be an alternate Drug Program Agent in March 1995 by the supervisor of the Drug Program Agent program.  William Logay has a background in law enforcement.  At the time of hire he was informed that since the work was part time he would be an independent contractor.  In 1996 he became concerned about the potential liability if he made an error when collecting a drug test sample.  For that reason, and also for tax purposes, he formed a subchapter S corporation, William J. Logay Investigations, Inc.  His earnings as a Drug Program Agent were paid by the Petitioner directly to the corporation.  In addition to the income for services performed as a Drug Program Agent, the corporation received income from services performed by William Logay for other clients.  William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. paid a salary to William Logay and registered with the State of Florida for payment of unemployment compensation taxes on William Logay's salary. 

Based on his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Special Deputy recommended that the determination be affirmed in part and reversed in part. Specifically, he recommended affirming the determination with respect to Lloyd Nilsen, Gary Crep, Robert Starratt, and any other drug program agents who worked for the Petitioner under the same terms and conditions. The Special Deputy recommended reversing the determination with respect to William Logay and any other persons who performed services through a different corporation or limited liability company. Finally, the Special Deputy recommended that the determination be modified to change the effective date of liability for these workers from January 1, 2006, to January 1, 2003. The Joined Party William Logay’s exceptions to the Recommended Order of the Special Deputy were received by mail postmarked September 12, 2008. Counter exceptions were not received from the Respondent or the Petitioner. 

With respect to the recommended order, Section 120.57(1)(l), Florida Statutes, provides:

The agency may adopt the recommended order as the final order of the agency. The agency in its final order may reject or modify the conclusions of law over which it has substantive jurisdiction and interpretation of administrative rules over which it has substantive jurisdiction. When rejecting or modifying such conclusions of law or interpretation of administrative rule, the agency must state with particularity its reasons for rejecting or modifying such conclusion of law or interpretation of administrative rule and must make a finding that its substituted conclusion of law or interpretation of administrative rule is as or more reasonable than that which was rejected or modified. Rejection or modification of conclusions of law may not form the basis for rejection or modification of findings of fact.  The agency may not reject or modify the findings of fact unless the agency first determines from a review of the entire record, and states with particularity in the order, that the findings of fact were not based upon competent substantial evidence or that the proceedings on which the findings were based did not comply with essential requirements of law.

With respect to exceptions, Section 120.57(1)(k), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part:

The agency shall allow each party 15 days in which to submit written exceptions to the recommended order. The final order shall include an explicit ruling on each exception, but an agency need not rule on an exception that does not clearly identify the disputed portion of the recommended order by page number or paragraph, that does not identify the legal basis for the exception, or that does not include appropriate and specific citations to the record.

The Joined Party William Logay’s exceptions are addressed below. Additionally, the entire record of the case was reviewed to determine whether the Special Deputy’s Findings of Fact were supported by the record, whether the proceedings complied with the substantial requirements of the law and whether the Conclusions of Law reflect a reasonable application of the law to the facts. 

The Joined Party William Logay filed several exceptions to the Special Deputy’s Recommended Conclusion of Law #35. The Joined Party William Logay first contends that there is no factual basis for the conclusion that a portion of the corporate earnings of William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. were reported by the corporation as wages paid to William Logay.  The Special Deputy’s Recommended Conclusion of Law #35 is supported by the Special Deputy’s Recommended Finding of Fact #21.  Pursuant to the above cited statute, the agency may not reject or modify a hearing officer’s findings of fact that is based upon competent substantial evidence. Since the Special Deputy’s conclusion reflects a logical analysis of a finding of fact that is supported by competent evidence in the record, the Joined Party’s exception is respectfully rejected. 
The Joined Party William Logay’s exceptions also contend that the Special Deputy’s Recommended Conclusion of Law #35 has no legal basis because it involves a misperception of how money flows through a subchapter S corporation and how that money is ultimately taxed by the Internal Revenue Service. The record reflects that all remuneration for Joined Party William Logay’s  services came from William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. after 1996.  Additionally, Joined Party William Logay was, by statute, an employee of William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. Section 443.1216(1)(a), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part:

The employment subject to this chapter includes a service performed, including a service performed in interstate commerce, by: 

1.  An officer of a corporation.
Section 443.036(20)(c), Florida Statutes, also provides:

A person who is an officer of a corporation, or a member of a limited liability company classified as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, and who performs services for the corporation or limited liability company in this state, regardless of whether those services are continuous, is deemed an employee of the corporation or the limited liability company during all of each week of his or her tenure of office, regardless of whether he or she is compensated for those services. Services are presumed to be rendered for the corporation in cases in which the officer is compensated by means other than dividends upon shares of stock of the corporation owned by him or her.
The Special Deputy’s conclusion that the Joined Party William Logay was a statutory employee of William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. rather than an employee of the Petitioner reflects a reasonable application of the law to the facts.  The Joined Party’s exception is respectfully rejected.


The Joined Party William Logay’s exceptions also contend that the Special Deputy’s Recommended Conclusion of Law #35 is in error because the Joined Party William Logay started William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. primarily for liability purposes. The reason the Joined Party William Logay started his subchapter S corporation is not dispositive of the issue at hand. He is a statutory employee of William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. pursuant to Sections 443.1216(1)(a) and 443.036(20)(c) of the Florida Statutes and received all payment for his services from that corporation. Therefore the Special Deputy’s Conclusion of Law #35 reflects a reasonable application of the law to the facts. The Joined Party’s exception is respectfully rejected.


The Joined Party William Logay’s exceptions to the Special Deputy’s Recommended Conclusion of Law #35 also argue that the Joined Party William Logay should be considered under the direction and control of the Petitioner since he shared the same relationship with the Petitioner as the other Joined Parties.  The Joined Party William Logay takes exception to the method of payment being determinative of his case instead of control.  The Joined Party William Logay points to Freedom Labor Contractors of Florida, Inc. v. State, Div. of Unemployment Compensation, 779 So. 2d 663 (Fla. App. 3.Dist, 2001) as support for the  conclusion that the element of control should be determinative of the case.  The facts of the case show that the way that the claimant was paid was directly related to whether the Petitioner exerted control over the claimant.  The record reflects that while the other Drug Program Agents worked directly for the Petitioner, William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. formed a separate agreement with the Petitioner in 1996. Under the terms of the agreement between the Petitioner and William J. Logay Investigations, Inc., the Petitioner paid William J. Logay Investigation, Inc. for services performed by the Joined Party. In turn, pursuant to the agreement, William J. Logay Investigations had the authority to hire and pay a drug program agent to perform the contracted services, and it chose to compensate Joined Party William Logay with all or part of the money received from the Petitioner. Thus, it was William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. that controlled the relationship between the worker and the Petitioner. The Special Deputy’s Conclusion of Law #35 represents a reasonable application of the law to the facts. The Petitioner’s exceptions are respectfully rejected.

The Joined Party William Logay’s exceptions to the Special Deputy’s Recommended Conclusion of Law #35 also maintain that the Joined Party William Logay could be both an employee of the Petitioner and William J. Logay Investigations, Inc.  The Joined Party Logay finds support for this conclusion in Vizcaino v. U.S. District Court, 173 F.3d 713 (9th Cir. 1999), Renta v. Adam Meldrum & Anderson Co., 806 F. Supp. 1071 (W. D. N. Y. 1992), Restatement (Second) of Agency, Section 226 (1958), and John W. Kearns, P.A. v. State Dept. of Labor and Employment Sec., Div. of Unemployment Compensation, 680 So. 2d 619 Fla. App. 3 Dist., 1996).  The Joined Party William Logay further asserts that even if Joined Party William was leased by the Petitioner from an employment agency and the Petitioner paid that employment agency, the claimant would still be an employee of the Petitioner according to Vizcaino and Burrey v. Pacific Gas and Elec. Co., 159 F.3d 388 (9th Cir. 1998).  The authority cited by the Joined Party William Logay is not persuasive when Sections 443.1216(1)(a) and 443.036(20)(c), and 443.1217 of the Florida Statutes apply to the facts at hand.  Unemployment compensation claims are based on wages, and the record reflects that all of Joined Party William Logay’s wages were received from William J. Logay Investigations, Inc.  Since all of his wages were received from William J. Logay Investigations, Inc., he was an employee of only that company pursuant to Sections 443.1216(1)(a) and 443.036(20)(c), and 443.1217 of the Florida Statutes. The Special Deputy’s Conclusion of Law #35 represents a reasonable application of the law to the facts. The Petitioner’s exceptions are respectfully rejected.

A review of the record reveals that the Findings of Fact contained in the Recommended Order are based on competent, substantial evidence and that the proceedings on which the findings were based complied with the essential requirements of the law. The Special Deputy’s findings are thus adopted in this order. The special deputy’s recommended Conclusions of Law reflect a reasonable application of the law to the facts and are also adopted.  

Having fully considered the record of this case, the Recommended Order of the Special Deputy, and the exceptions filed by the Joined Party, I hereby adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Special Deputy as set forth in the Recommended Order.

Therefore, it is ORDERED that the determination dated January 30, 2008, is modified to reflect an effective liability date of January 1, 2003. As modified, the determination is affirmed with respect to Lloyd Nilsen, Gary Crep, and Robert Starratt, and all others who worked for the Petitioner as drug program agents under the same terms and conditions.  The determination as modified is also affirmed in regards to William Logay from March 1995, until 1996.   The determination as modified is reversed with respect to William Logay from 1996 when he incorporated, and any others who worked under the same terms and conditions.
DONE and ORDERED at Tallahassee, Florida, this _____ day of  November, 2008.
[image: image1.png]



____________________________

Cynthia R. Lorenzo, Deputy Director

Agency for Workforce Innovation
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Agency for Workforce Innovation

This matter comes before the undersigned Special Deputy pursuant to the Petitioner’s protest of the Respondent’s determination dated <January 30, 2008>.

After due notice to the parties, a telephone hearing was held on <July 8, 2008>.  The Petitioner was represented by its attorneys.  The Petitioner's Director of Player Benefits appeared and testified as a witness.  The Respondent was represented by a Department of Revenue Senior Tax Specialist.  A Tax Auditor I appeared and testified as a witness.  The Joined Parties were represented by an attorney.  Joined Parties Lloyd Nilson, Robert Starratt, Gary Crep, and William Logay appeared and testified.
The record of the case, including the recording of the hearing and any exhibits submitted in evidence, is herewith transmitted. Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were received from the Petitioner.  
Issue:  <Whether services performed for the Petitioner by the Joined Parties and other individuals as Drug Program Agents constitute insured employment pursuant to Sections 443.036(19), 443.036(21); 443.1216, Florida Statutes, and if so, the effective date of the liability.>
Findings of Fact: 

22. Prior to 1990 the team owners of the National Football League and the players entered into an agreement which allowed the National Football League to conduct drug tests on the players and on the game officials.  The urine samples for the drug tests were collected by National Football League security personnel and were transported to testing laboratories.  

23. The Petitioner, the NFL Management Council, is the collective bargaining arm of the National Football League team owners.  In approximately 1992 the National Football League transferred the responsibility for collecting and transporting the drug test samples to the Petitioner.  Some of the security personnel who had previously collected and transported the drug test samples for the National Football League were transferred to the Petitioner.   The Petitioner also interviewed and hired other applicants for the position of Drug Program Agent.  The former Director of Security of the National Football League was hired to oversee the Drug Program Agents. There were no written agreements or contracts between the Petitioner and the Drug Program Agents.

24. The Petitioner considered the main qualification for a Drug Program Agent to be integrity.  The Drug Program Agents were not required to have prior experience with a drug testing program or any special knowledge concerning drug testing procedures.  However, many of the Drug Program Agents had a background in law enforcement and were familiar with chain of custody procedures.

25. The Petitioner was responsible for collecting and transporting the drug test samples from 1992 until May 2007 when the National Football League team owners contracted with a third party service provider to collect and transport the test samples.  In May 2007 the Petitioner terminated all of the Drug Program Agents.

26. The collective bargaining agreement between the team owners and the players provides for two types of drug testing, anabolic steroid testing and substance of abuse testing.  Through consultation with independent physicians the Petitioner developed a protocol for each type of drug test.  The protocols contained the steps that must be followed in collecting and transporting drug test samples.  In addition, the Petitioner developed a guidebook for the Drug Program Agents.  The guidebook was a loose-leaf binder approximately two to three inches thick.  The guidebook was not the actual policy but contained the instructions and procedures for performing the duties assigned to the Drug Program Agents.  The Drug Program Agents were required to follow each and every guideline.  The guidelines had to be followed exactly without any deviation.  The Petitioner notified the Drug Program Agents that failure to strictly follow the guidelines was grounds for disciplinary action, including dismissal.   

27. Generally, the Petitioner assigned two Drug Program Agents to each NFL team.  The Petitioner designated one Drug Program Agent to be the primary agent and designated the other as the alternate agent.  The Petitioner usually designated newly hired Drug Program Agents as alternate Drug Program Agents.  Generally, when a primary Drug Program Agent left the position or was terminated by the Petitioner, the Petitioner assigned the alternate agent to be the primary agent.  On a few occasions the Petitioner made a decision to change the primary agent assigned to a team to the alternate agent position and elevate the alternate agent to the primary agent position.

28. The Primary Drug Agent had the right to recommend someone for the Petitioner to hire as a Drug Program Agent.  However, the Drug Program Agents were not permitted to hire other agents.  Only the Petitioner had the authority to interview the applicants and to hire Drug Program Agents.  
29. Whenever the Petitioner hired a new Drug Program Agent, the Petitioner assigned an experienced Drug Program Agent to train the new agent.  Generally, the new agents received a week or more of one-on-one training and several weeks of on-the-job training.  The Petitioner paid the Drug Programs Agents to train the new agents and also paid the new agents while they were being trained.

30. The Petitioner provided each Drug Program Agent with an identification card bearing a photograph of the Drug Program Agent and identifying the agent as an agent of the National Football League.  The Petitioner also provided some of the Drug Program Agents with business cards.  The business cards bore the logo of the NFL and the title of National Football League Drug Program Agent.  The Petitioner provided the Drug Program Agents with shirts and caps bearing the logo or name of the National Football League.  The Drug Program Agents were required to wear the shirts and caps while conducting drug tests. 

31. The Petitioner determined which players or officials were to be tested, when the tests were to be performed, and the type of test to be administered.  The testing assignments were provided to the Primary Drug Program Agent.  It was the responsibility of the primary agent to coordinate the collections by providing a portion of the assignments to the alternate agent.  The Petitioner determined that if two Drug Program Agents were assigned to a team, neither Drug Program Agent should perform less than 30% of the tests.  If a team was assigned two or more Drug Program Agents, no player could be tested exclusively by one Drug Program Agent.

32. The Drug Program Agents were required to have their own transportation.  However, the Petitioner reimbursed the Drug Program Agents for the mileage to and from the testing sites.  The Petitioner provided all of the testing materials and supplies.  The Petitioner reimbursed the Drug Program Agents for all expenses in connection with the work.
33. The Drug Program Agents were required to personally perform the work assigned by the Petitioner.  A Drug Program Agent was not allowed to be in another city or training facility to test players without the Petitioner's prior approval.

34. The Drug Program Agents were free to have outside employment or self employment.  They were free to perform similar work for other companies or sport leagues.  However, the Drug Program Agents were prohibited from having any outside association with the gaming or gambling industry or with any NFL team or player.  For instance, if a Drug Program Agent also worked as a Real Estate Broker, the Drug Program Agent was not permitted to sell real estate to a player or to team personnel.
35. Among other things the Drug Program Agents were not allowed to request specific information about a player from team personnel, were not allowed to attend any social event involving players or team personnel, and were not permitted to accept any gifts from players or team personnel.  The Drug Program Agents were not allowed to visit team dining rooms if players or team personnel were present.  The Drug Program Agents were prohibited from inviting players or team personnel to their homes, regardless of the circumstances.  They could not go to a player's home for any reason other than to collect a specimen.  The Drug Program Agents were not allowed to engage in conversation about the drug program with any individual and were required to immediately report all bribes, attempted bribes, or overtures.

36. The Drug Program Agents were paid an hourly fee, the amount of which was unilaterally determined by the Petitioner.  Each Drug Program Agent was paid the same hourly rate regardless of whether the agent was a primary agent or an alternate agent.  Each Drug Program Agent notified the Petitioner concerning the number of hours worked during a pay period.  The Petitioner's Director of Player Benefits verified the amount of pay due by multiplying the number of hours worked by the hourly rate of pay.  No taxes were withheld from the pay.  None of the Drug Program Agents were entitled to any fringe benefits such as paid vacations or sick pay.  At the end of each year the Petitioner reported the earnings of some, but not all, of the Drug Program Agents on Form 1099-MISC as nonemployee compensation.

37. Each year the Petitioner held two Drug Program Agent meetings for the purpose of providing training to the Drug Program Agents, reviewing the policies, discussing issues, and answering any questions the Drug Program Agents might have about the procedures.  The Director of Player Benefits and other NFL Management Council employees also attended the meetings.  The meetings were the only personal contact which the Director of Player Benefits had with the Drug Program Agents.  The primary Drug Program Agents were required to attend both meetings each year.  The alternate Drug Program Agents were only required to attend one meeting each year.  The Petitioner determined when and where the meetings were held.  The Petitioner booked the airline flights and provided the airline tickets to the Drug Program Agents.  The Petitioner also booked the hotel reservations.  The Petitioner paid for the airline tickets and the hotel.  The Drug Program Agents submitted expense accounts and were reimbursed for all other expenses.  The Drug Program Agents were paid for travel time and attendance at the meetings by the Petitioner at the established hourly rate of pay.

38. The Petitioner distributed a new guidebook to the Drug Program Agents at the June 2005 Drug Program Agent meeting.  The Petitioner expressed the belief that the new guidebook would be invaluable in helping the Drug Program Agents carry out their assigned responsibilities as directed by the NFL Management Council.  The Drug Program Agents were informed that it was more important than ever for the Drug Program Agents to follow the Petitioner's procedures in an exacting manner.

39. Joined Party Lloyd Nilsen has experience in law enforcement and was hired as an alternate Drug Program Agent in 1993.  In 2000 the Petitioner promoted him to the position of primary Drug Program Agent.  He continued working as a Drug Program Agent until May 2007 when the Petitioner terminated the Drug Program Agents.  From 1993 until May 2007 Lloyd Nilsen did not engage in any outside employment or self employment.

40. Joined Party Robert Starratt was hired as a Drug Program Agent in October 2005 and he worked until he was terminated by the Petitioner in May 2007.  At the time of hire he was not told that he would be an independent contractor.  He always believed that he was an employee even though taxes were not withheld from the pay.  He has a background in law enforcement.  While working as a Drug Program Agent he was also a self employed private investigator, however, he only collected drug test samples for the Petitioner.  He received Form 1099 from the Petitioner for each year that he worked as a Drug Program Agent.

41. Joined Party Gary Crep was hired by the Petitioner in October 2000.  He worked until approximately April 2007 when he was terminated by the Petitioner.  He was designated by the Petitioner as an alternate Drug Program Agent.  He has a background in law enforcement and he also worked as a self employed private investigator while he was a Drug Program Agent.  However, he only collected drug test samples for the Petitioner.  At the time of hire he was not informed that he was an independent contractor.  He always believed that he was the Petitioner's employee even though taxes were not withheld.  His earnings were reported by the Petitioner on Form 1099.  While working as a Drug Program Agent he was appointed to the Drug Program Agent Advisory Committee.  The Drug Program Agents were divided into teams.  Each member of the Advisory Committee was responsible for providing information to the Drug Program Agents in the member's assigned team.  

42. Joined Party William Logay was hired to be an alternate Drug Program Agent in March 1995 by the supervisor of the Drug Program Agent program.  William Logay has a background in law enforcement.  At the time of hire he was informed that since the work was part time he would be an independent contractor.  In 1996 he became concerned about the potential liability if he made an error when collecting a drug test sample.  For that reason, and also for tax purposes, he formed a subchapter S corporation, William J. Logay Investigations, Inc.  His earnings as a Drug Program Agent were paid by the Petitioner directly to the corporation.  In addition to the income for services performed as a Drug Program Agent, the corporation received income from services performed by William Logay for other clients.  William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. paid a salary to William Logay and registered with the State of Florida for payment of unemployment compensation taxes on William Logay's salary. 
Conclusions of Law: 

43. The issue in this case, whether services performed for the Petitioner by the Drug Program Agents constitute employment subject to the Florida Unemployment Compensation Law, is governed by Chapter 443, Florida Statutes.  Section 443.1216(1)(a)2., Florida Statutes, provides that employment subject to the chapter includes service performed by individuals under the usual common law rules applicable in determining an employer-employee relationship.

44. The Supreme Court of the United States held that the term "usual common law rules" is to be used in a generic sense to mean the "standards developed by the courts through the years of adjudication."  United States v. W.M. Webb, Inc., 397 U.S. 179 (1970). 
45. The Supreme Court of Florida adopted and approved the tests in 1 Restatement of Law, Agency 2d Section 220 (1958), for use to determine if an employment relationship exists. See Cantor v. Cochran, 184 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1966); Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Kendall, 88 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1956); Mangarian v. Southern Fruit Distributors, 1 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1941); see also Kane Furniture Corp. v. R. Miranda, 506 So2d 1061 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).  
46. Restatement of Law is a publication, prepared under the auspices of the American Law Institute, which explains the meaning of the law with regard to various court rulings.  The Restatement sets forth a nonexclusive list of factors that are to be considered when judging whether a relationship is an employment relationship or an independent contractor relationship. 

47. 1 Restatement of Law, Agency 2d Section 220 (1958) provides:

(1)
A servant is a person employed to perform services for another and who, in the performance of the services, is subject to the other's control or right of control.

(2)
The following matters of fact, among others, are to be considered:

(a)
the extent of control which, by the agreement, the business may exercise over the details of the work;

(b)
whether or not the one employed is engaged in a distinct occupation or business;

(c)
the kind of occupation, with reference to whether, in the locality, the work is usually done under the direction of the employer or by a specialist without supervision;

(d)
the skill required in the particular occupation;

(e)
whether the employer or the worker supplies the instrumentalities, tools, and the place of work for the person doing the work; 

(f)
the length of time for which the person is employed;

(g)
the method of payment, whether by the time or by the job;

(h)
whether or not the work is a part of the regular business of the employer;

(i)
whether or not the parties believe they are creating the relation of master and servant; 

(j)
whether the principal is or is not in business.

48. Comments in the Restatement explain that the word “servant” does not exclusively connote manual labor, and the word “employee” has largely replaced “servant” in statutes dealing with various aspects of the working relationship between two parties.

49. In Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Department of Labor & Employment Security, 472 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) the court confirmed that the factors listed in the Restatement are the proper factors to be considered in determining whether an employer-employee relationship exists.  However, in citing La Grande v. B&L Services, Inc., 432 So.2d 1364, 1366 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the court acknowledged that the question of whether a person is properly classified an employee or an independent contractor often can not be answered by reference to “hard and fast” rules, but rather must be addressed on a case-by-case basis.  
50. There was no written agreement between the Petitioner and any of the Joined Parties.  The Petitioner's witness, the Director of Player Benefits, was not involved in the hiring of any of the Drug Program Agents and was not involved in the day-to-day activities of the Drug Program Agents.  The competent evidence presented reveals that some of the Joined Parties were not informed that they were hired by the Petitioner to be independent contractors.  Other Joined Parties were informed that they were hired to be independent contractors.  The Florida Supreme Court held that in determining the status of a working relationship, the agreement between the parties should be examined if there is one.  The agreement should be honored, unless other provisions of the agreement, or the actual practice of the parties, demonstrate that the agreement is not a valid indicator of the status of the working relationship.  Keith v. News & Sun Sentinel Co., 667 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1995).  A statement in an agreement that the existing relationship is that of independent contractor is not dispositive of the issue. Lee v. American Family Assurance Co. 431 So.2d 249, 250 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).  In Justice v. Belford Trucking Company, Inc., 272 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1972), the court held that the status of the relationship depends not on the statements of the parties but upon all the circumstances of their dealings with each other.  
51. The evidence reveals that the Petitioner did not require applicants for the Drug Program Agent position to have any prior drug testing experience.  The Petitioner considered the primary qualification for the position to be integrity.  The Petitioner directed the training of new Agents, paid experienced Agents to train the new Agents, and paid the new Agents to participate in the training.  The Petitioner provided each Drug Program Agent with a guidebook which set forth the instructions and procedures for performing the drug tests.  In addition, the Petitioner scheduled the Drug Program Agents to attend one or two Drug Program Agent meetings each year for the purpose of reviewing and discussing the Petitioner's policies and for the purpose of providing additional training to the Agents.  The Drug Program Agents were subject to disciplinary action, including termination if the Agents did not precisely follow the Petitioner's instructions and guidelines.  The Petitioner determined what was to be done, where it was to be done, and how it was to be done.  These facts reveal that the Petitioner exercised substantial control over the manner of performing the work.

52. The Petitioner paid the Drug Program Agents an hourly rate which was unilaterally determined by the Petitioner.  Generally, the Petitioner controlled the hours of work and dictated the number of drug tests assigned to each Agent.  The Petitioner provided everything that was needed to perform the work.  The Petitioner reimbursed the Agents for any expenses in connection with the work.

53. Although the Drug Program Agents were free to work elsewhere and were free to perform similar work for others, the Petitioner placed restrictions on those freedoms.  The Agents were prohibited from having any professional or social contact with a player or with team personnel.  The Agents were prohibited from having any association with the gaming or gambling industry.  Although the Agents may have been free to perform drug tests for the general public, no evidence was presented to show that any Agent ever performed such activity for any entity other than the Petitioner.

54. The evidence reveals that the Petitioner developed long term relationships with the Drug Program Agents.  Either the Petitioner or the Drug Program Agents had the right to terminate the relationship at any time without incurring liability.  These facts reveal the existence of an at-will relationship of relative permanence.  In Cantor v. Cochran, 184 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1966), the court in quoting 1 Larson, Workmens' Compensation Law, Section 44.35 stated: "The power to fire is the power to control. The absolute right to terminate the relationship without liability is not consistent with the concept of independent contractor, under which the contractor should have the legal right to complete the project contracted for and to treat any attempt to prevent completion as a breach of contract.”
55. The facts presented in this case reveal that the Drug Program Agents were employees of the Petitioner.  However, the determination issued in this case holds that the Drug Program Agents are the Petitioner's employees retroactive to January 1, 2006.  Rule 60BB-2.032(1), Florida Administrative Code, provides that each employing unit must maintain records pertaining to remuneration for services performed for a period of five years following the calendar year in which the services were rendered.  The Petitioner employed Drug Program Agents under the same terms and conditions since 1992.  Therefore, the correct retroactive date should be January 1, 2003.
56. Joined Party William Logay was hired to be a Drug Program Agent in 1995.  However, in 1996 he formed a corporation and performed services for the Petitioner through the corporation.  The Petitioner paid the corporation for the services performed by William Logay.  At that time William Logay became a statutory employee of the corporation, William J. Logay Investigations, Inc.  As a subchapter S corporation the earnings of the corporation pass through the corporation.  However, a portion of the corporate earnings were reported by the corporation as wages paid to William Logay.  Therefore, William Logay worked under the direction and control of William J. Logay Investigations, Inc. rather than under the direction and control of the Petitioner.  Thus, effective 1996, William Logay was not the Petitioner's employee.

57. The Petitioner submitted Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  Those Proposed Findings of Fact which are supported by the evidence and are relevant have been incorporated herein.  Proposed Findings of Fact 1, 2, 3, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 19 are not supported by the evidence and are rejected.  Proposed Findings of Fact 7, 18, 23, and 24 are misleading as written and require clarification.  Proposal 7 states that certain Drug Program Agents filed 1099 forms in order to report their income from the Petitioner to the Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities.  Form 1099 is filed by the payer, in this case the Petitioner, not the worker, in this case the Drug Program Agents.  Form 1099 is not filed with any Florida taxing agency by either the payer or the payee.  Proposal 18 states that the Drug Program Agents were trained with respect to their primary duties by other Drug Program Agents and/or by the independent physicians.  Although some of the Drug Program Agents were trained by other Agents, the training was directed and financed directly by the Petitioner.  Proposals 23 and 24 state that the Drug Program Agents were free to collect drug testing samples and or perform similar functions for another entity and/or professional sports league and were free to advertise and make their services available to the general public.  Although the Agents had freedom to perform some outside activities, the Petitioner established conditions and restrictions on the outside activities.  In addition, no evidence was presented to show that any Agent ever performed similar activities for any other entity.
Recommendation: It is recommended that the determination dated <January 30, 2008>, be MODIFIED to reflect a retroactive date of January 1, 2003.  It is recommended that Lloyd Nilsen, Gary Crep, Robert Starratt<>, and any other individual performing services as Drug Program Agent for the Petitioner is the Petitioner's employee.  It is recommended that William Logay and any other person performing services for the Petitioner though a corporation or limited liability company, not be held to be the Petitioner's employee.

Respectfully submitted on <August 28, 2008>.
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